## FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/26/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
8/26/2025 9:01 AM

King County Superior Court Case No. 21-2-15364-6

Case #: 1044984

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

MICHAEL J. LANG, AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF FRANK E. COSTA, ON BEHALF OF THE ESTATE AND ALL STATUTORY BENEFICIARIES,

Plaintiffs/Respondents,

v.

PLATINUM NINE HOLDINGS, LLC, DOING BUSINESS AS NORTHWEST AMBULANCE,

Defendant/Appellant.

#### APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Rita V. Latsinova, WSBA #24447
James Shore, WSBA #28095
Seth Row, WSBA #32905
STOEL RIVES LLP

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner, Platinum Nine Holdings, LLC, dba

Northwest Ambulance (hereinafter "NWA"), is a licensed

Washington ambulance service.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

NWA seeks review of the unpublished decision by

Division One of the Court of Appeals in *Lang v. Platinum Nine Holdings, LLC*, No. 86205-7-I, dated July 28, 2025, attached as

Appendix A ("Opinion").

#### III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

NWA's petition presents a legal issue of first impression about the scope of qualified immunity of first responders under RCW 18.71.210 (or "Section 210"), namely:

Whether, when the Legislature extended qualified immunity for good-faith actions by first responders "while rendering medical services" to patients who have "suffered illness or bodily injury," it intended to create a double standard that treats immunity differently depending on whether the

patient being transported by ambulance to a medical facility is receiving care for a mental as opposed to physical health emergency.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This wrongful death and survival action below was brought by Michael J. Lang, as a Personal Representative of the Estate of Frank E. Costa. CP 1. Mr. Costa was 78 and suffered from metastatic breast cancer. CP 138. He resided at Genesis Care Center in Everett. *Id.* NWA, a Washington limited liability company, is a licensed ambulance service provider in the State of Washington, under license number AMB.ES61474400. CP 2, 138, 150-151.

On November 18, 2020, Genesis Health Care Center requested an ambulance transfer for Mr. Costa to Providence Medical Center due to some concerning lab work. CP 22, 138.

NWA employees Jack Wilson (an EMT), Henry Shaw (the ambulance driver), and Kat Averill (an EMT trainee) responded to the call. CP 138, 154 ("NW26 was dispatched non-code,

normal speed to genesis Living Facility, for a 78y/o male pt with CC of abnormal [labs]."). The ambulance crew moved Mr. Costa from his bed to the ambulance stretcher and secured him with two lap belts and guardrails. CP 139, 154. No shoulder belt was used. Mr. Wilson testified that shoulder restraints were for "specific patients" who "weren't able to control their upper body." CP 139.

During transport Mr. Costa's condition deteriorated and Mr. Wilson called an emergency code. Mr. Shaw turned on ambulance lights and sirens. CP 139-140, 154 ("Pt was transported CODE due to possible abnormal heart rhythm."). The ambulance was driving east on Highway 526, in the left lane, towards the exit to I-5 North, on the left. CP 140. A garbage truck was in front of the ambulance. Mr. Shaw saw that the garbage truck began to move to the right to yield and began passing it on the left. Then the garbage truck moved back into the left lane and slowed down. Mr. Shaw hit the

brakes to avoid a collision and swerved to the right, hitting a freeway exit divider on the right. CP 140, 154.

Mr. Costa slid out of the stretcher and hit the ambulance wall, sustaining injuries. *Id.* The EMT trainee was launched from the bench seat to a side wall and was slightly injured.

Mr. Costa was transported to the hospital by another ambulance. He died later that day. CP 140.

The complaint stated that NWA was "negligent" and that its negligence proximately caused Mr. Costa's death. It did not plead that NWA was grossly negligent, failed to act in good faith, or acted willfully. CP 4, 18. In its answer, NWA asserted the defense of qualified immunity under RCW 18.71.210.

NWA subsequently admitted that "its employees while operating an ambulance within the course and scope of their employment with Platinum Nine, failed to exercise ordinary care by not securing Frank Costa onto the gurney with all available straps and by not avoiding an accident with a freeway-

exit divider." CP 338. NWA further admitted that "because of its negligence, Frank Costa suffered injuries including: closed nondisplaced fracture of the second cervical vertebra, laceration on the forehead, abrasion on the left upper extremity, closed fracture of multiple ribs, and closed fracture of thoracic vertebra," CP 341; and that NWA's "ordinary negligence proximately caused Frank Costa's accident-related injuries and death," CP 345. NWA denied gross negligence and reiterated its defense of qualified immunity under RCW 18.71.210. CP 341, 345. NWA also preserved its right to assert the affirmative defense of qualified immunity under RCW 18.71.210. *Id*.

The trial court addressed the defense in the orders on the parties' motions for summary judgment. CP 309-315, 316-320. The Plaintiff's motion asserted that RCW 18.71.210 "has no application to the facts of this case" because "NW Ambulance employees' failure to properly secure Mr. Costa was not part of any 'actual emergency medical procedures' .... Neither driving nor buckling seatbelts are medical procedures nor within any

'field of medical expertise' .... See RCW 18.71.21€(2)." CP 36.

NWA opposed the motion, arguing, *inter alia*, that "the statute provides immunity to EMTs and ambulance service providers for acts or omissions done or omitted in good faith while rendering emergency medical service. RCW 18.71.210," a concept distinct from "emergency medical procedures." CP 294 (bold emphasis in original; italics added). NWA further argued that operating an ambulance to transport patients to an appropriate medical facility in an emergency is an "integral part" of the emergency medical service "provide[d] to the public, something that its [crew] are specifically trained to do." Id. Similarly, "[a] stretcher, as specifically defined by statute, is an essential piece of equipment used by EMTs. Just like operation of an ambulance, safely and appropriately operating a stretcher is a skill that is reserved for specially certified persons, such as WEMTs." *Id.*; see also CP 249-250 (the NWA team "utilize[ed] the skills and tools ... that they were trained and

authorized by the State to use when the accident occurred....

Driving an ambulance with the lights and sirens running and securing the patient to a stretcher are skills that are performed within the scope of EMS practice.").

The trial court rejected NWA's interpretation of Section 210. CP 311-312. It ruled, as a matter of law, that "driving an ambulance is not emergency medical service" and "thus Platinum Nine is not immune from suit." CP 312. The trial court reiterated its ruling in the order denying NWA's motion for summary judgment. CP 317-319.

The issue of noneconomic damages was tried to a jury. CP 347-348. The jury awarded \$2,000,000 and \$300,000, respectively, to Mr. Costa and Ms. Marianne Long, his niece. *Id.* NWA appealed and the Court of Appeals affirmed, in an unpublished decision. App. 4-23. This petition followed.

#### V. ARGUMENT

### A. The Court of Appeals Misconstrued RCW 18.71.210

The Court of Appeals correctly stated that "[t]he goal of statutory interpretation is to discern and implement the legislature's intent." App. 13 (citation omitted). It further correctly stated that the courts "presume that the legislature did not intend absurd results." *Id.* But the Court of Appeals did not do the work these rules require. It failed to meaningfully engage with the statute's full text (including, critically, RCW 18.71.210(4), which was cited without any discussion), the statute's structure, or the statutes and regulations *in pari materia*.

This resulted in precisely the absurd result the Court of Appeals pledged to avoid. Under its approach, an ambulance crew that transports and provides care for a patient who suffers from a drug overdose or a mental health crisis to the nearest facility is immune for acts of ordinary negligence, but the same ambulance crew that does its best to stabilize a patient who

suffers from cancer while rushing to the nearest hospital—the undisputed facts in the case below—is not. This double standard is so patently illogical that the Court of Appeals offered no rationale for it. The Legislature did not intend to create a double standard for immunity under Section 210. The Court of Appeals decision warrants review and reversal.

The Legislature extended qualified immunity to providers of "licensed ambulance service[s]" among other categories of trained personnel involved in delivering emergency medical services or trauma care (EMS/TC):

(1) No act or omission of any physician's trained advanced emergency medical technician and paramedic, as defined in RCW 18.71.200, or any emergency medical technician or first responder, as defined in RCW 18.73.030,<sup>[1]</sup> done or omitted in good faith *while rendering emergency medical* service ... to a person who has suffered illness or bodily injury shall impose any liability upon:

(f) Any licensed ambulance service.

. . . .

<sup>1</sup> "First responder' means a person who is authorized by the secretary to render emergency medical care as defined by RCW 18.73.081." RCW 18.73.030(15).

(4) This section shall apply also, as to the entities and personnel described in subsection (1) of this section, to any act or omission committed or omitted in good faith by such entities or personnel involved in the transport of patients to mental health facilities or chemical dependency programs, in accordance with applicable alternative facility procedures adopted under RCW 70.168.100.

RCW 18.71.210 (emphasis added), App. 25-26.

There is no dispute that NWA is a licensed ambulance service within subsection (f). There is also no dispute that Mr. Costa was suffering from an "illness" or that the NWA ambulance team acted in good faith. The key question is whether Mr. Costa was receiving "emergency medical services" when the accident occurred.

The definition is found in RCW 18.73.030 and other statutes addressing the statewide EMS/TC system:

"Emergency medical service" means medical treatment and care which <u>may</u> be rendered at the scene of <u>any</u> medical emergency or while transporting <u>any</u> patient in an ambulance to an appropriate medical facility, including ambulance transportation between medical facilities.

RCW 18.73.030(11) (emphasis added), App. 28-29; *see also* RCW 70.168.015(6) (statewide emergency medical services and trauma care system act, defining "emergency medical service"), App. 31-35; RCW 18.71.010(2) (emergency medical care/emergency medical service).

The definition is intentionally broad and dynamic. The patient may receive "emergency medical service" in a variety of scenarios. The ambulance may be dispatched to assist "any patient" in a medical or other emergency ("any emergency") and deliver treatment and care without transporting the patient to a hospital or other medical facility ("at the scene"). If the patient's condition deteriorates, the ambulance team may continue delivering treatment and care "while transporting" the patient to the hospital or other "appropriate medical facility." Or, the ambulance team may find that the patient has severe injuries or other condition beyond the team's training and expertise, see RCW 18.71.210(2), and conclude that the best course is to rush the patient to the nearest emergency room or

other "appropriate medical facility." The permissive "may" and the broad terms "any patient," "any medical emergency," and the non-exclusive "an appropriate medical facility" demonstrate that ambulance transportation is an integral part of "emergency medical care" across all EMC/TC scenarios, regardless of whether the patient's condition is physical or mental.

The Court of Appeals failed to give meaning to these expansive terms. Instead, it focused solely on the phrase "while transporting" in isolation from the rest of the definition and concluded that "emergency medical service ... is a distinct act from the transporting itself," thus excluding emergency transportation from the acts to which immunity applies. App.

15. But "while" does not mean "different from." It means simultaneously, "during the time that." *While*, Merriam-Webster's Online Dictionary, www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/while (last accessed Aug. 23, 2025).

To illustrate, the phrase "using a cellphone while driving is dangerous" conveys the hazard of using a cellphone and driving

simultaneously. So interpreted, the definition of "emergency medical service" broadly includes a range of non-exclusive scenarios that involve patient care and/or transportation depending on the specific emergency.

"Related statutory provisions are interpreted in relation to each other and all provisions harmonized." C.J.C. v. Corp. of Cath. Bishop of Yakima, 138 Wn.2d 699, 708, 985 P.2d 262 (1999). The Court of Appeals failed to do so. Its narrow (and mistaken) focus on "while transporting" is in direct conflict with the explicit mandate in RCW 18.71.210(4), added in 2015, that "this section shall apply also" to good-faith acts by "entities or personnel involved in the transport of patients to mental health facilities or chemical dependency programs." (emphasis added). The reference to the preceding parts of Section 210 ("this section") and the mandatory phrase ("shall apply also") demonstrate that the Legislature extended immunity to emergency transportation of patients throughout the entirety of Section 210, regardless of the nature of their

illness. The entities and personnel of licensed ambulance services who in good faith care for and transport patients suffering from physical illness or injury are immune under RCW 18.71.210(1)(f). In subsection (4) the Legislature clarified that the same "entities and personnel" are not treated any worse when they assist patients who suffer from drug-related conditions or mental illness.

In other words, the Legislature stated in mandatory terms ("shall apply also") that there is no double standard. The immunity of licensed ambulance service teams who care for and transport patients in medical emergencies is already covered in RCW 18.71.210(1). Subsection (4) clarified that the same immunity applies regardless of the patient's diagnosis.

Lest there be any doubt, the 2015 Washington House Bill No. 1721, titled, "An act relating to the transport of patients by ambulance to facilities other than hospitals," stated in no uncertain terms that "[i]mmunity from liability that generally applies to emergency medical services providers is *extended* to

acts or omissions by those providers when transporting a patient to a mental health facility or chemical dependency treatment program[.]" Staff of Wash. House, 64th Leg., 2015 2d Special Sess., Final Bill Report, H.B. No. 172 (2015) (emphasis added), App. 37-39.<sup>2</sup>

But this direct statement of legislative intent was hardly necessary because the Legislature and responsible agencies consistently *included* ambulance transportation as an essential part of the emergency medical service/trauma care the patient receives. Instead of construing these definitions in related statutes and regulations *in pari materia*, the Court of Appeals ignored them:

• "'Ambulance' means a ground or air vehicle designed and used to transport the ill and injured <u>and</u> to provide personnel, facilities, and equipment to treat patients

÷

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> To be sure, all legislative history is not of equal weight. Different documents in the legislative process reflect a hierarchy, with "stray statements of legislators on the floor" at the bottom and final bill reports at issue here at the top. *See* Robert A. Katzmann, *Judging Statutes*, at 54 (2016).

*before and during transportation.*" RCW 18.73.030(4) (emphasis added);

- "Emergency medical services and trauma care system plan' means a statewide plan that identifies statewide emergency medical services and trauma care objectives and priorities and identifies equipment, facility, personnel, training, and other needs required to create and maintain a statewide emergency medical services and trauma care system." RCW 70.168.015(8) (emphasis added);
- "Emergency medical services and trauma care
  (EMS/TC) system' means an *organized approach to providing personnel, facilities, and equipment* for
   effective and coordinated medical treatment of
   patients with a medical emergency or injury requiring
   immediate medical or surgical intervention to prevent
   death or disability." WAC 246-976-010(34)
   (emphasis added);
- "Trauma care system' means an organized approach to providing care to trauma patients that provides personnel, facilities, and equipment for effective and coordinated trauma care.... [It] includes prevention, *prehospital care*, hospital care, and rehabilitation." RCW 70.168.015(31) (emphasis added);
- "'Prehospital' means emergency medical care <u>or</u>
   <u>transportation</u> rendered to patients prior to hospital
   admission or during interfacility transfer[.]" RCW
   70.168.015(26) (emphasis added);
- "EMS provider' means an individual certified by the secretary or the University of Washington School of Medicine under chapters 18.71 and 18.73 RCW to

provide prehospital emergency response, patient care, and transport." WAC 246-976-010(38) (emphasis added); and

"The following *EMS services* may be verified [by the Secretary of the Department of Health]: ...
(b) *Ground ambulance service* ...; (c) Air ambulance service." WAC 246-976-390(3) (2024).

These definitions speak for themselves. An ambulance transporting a patient who is experiencing a health emergency or trauma is not just a taxi that offers a ride to the hospital or other medical facility. It is, by legislative definition, a form of "prehospital care" that provides "personnel, facilities, and equipment" to treat patients before and during transportation.

The Court of Appeals also appeared to conflate "emergency medical service" to which immunity attaches under RCW 18.71.210(1) with "emergency medical procedures" referenced in RCW 18.71.210(2). App. 14, 15. But subsection (2) does not address ambulance transportation at all, which, as discussed, is covered by subsections (1) and (4). Subsection (2), in contrast, deals with the scope of immunity by EMTs and paramedics, which is limited to acts and omissions "within the

field of [their] medical expertise." RCW 18.71.210(2).

Subsection (2) does not extend immunity to EMTs or paramedics for performing complex procedures, like surgery, that are beyond their training and expertise. *Id*.

Plainly, the use of a gurney and gurney restraints is not such a procedure. A "[g]urney, wheeled, collapsible, with a functional restraint system per the manufacturer" is mandatory equipment used by EMTs, paramedics, and first responders.

WAC 246-976-300 (Table A). "Licensed and verified ground ambulance, aid services, and emergency services supervisory organizations (ESSO) must provide equipment listed in Table A of this section on each licensed vehicle or to their on-site EMS providers for the service levels they are approved by the department to provide when they are available for service."

WAC 246-976-300(1); see also WAC 246-976-290(5)(e), (f) ("Restraints must be provided [for all stretchers, gurneys,

etc.].... [These] restraints must permit quick attachment and detachment for quick transfer of a patient[.]").<sup>3</sup>

The Court of Appeals failed to give meaning to all parts of Section 210. If, as is suggested, subsection (2) stripped immunity for emergency transportation of patients simply because ambulance drivers are not trained and licensed to perform medical procedures in the same way as EMTs and paramedics, then subsections (1) and (4), which explicitly grant immunity for transporting patients in emergencies, would be nullities.

The ambulance that transported Mr. Costa was equipped with a gurney and restraints and the ambulance crew were trained to use them. CP 253-254, 280:14-24 (Jack Wilson deposition) ("I had two types of training ... the specific kind of Monday through Friday ... and then I also had ... field training. ... We had specific training on ... loading stretchers in and out of ambulances, driving to hospitals."); CP 292:11-15 (deposition of Michael Kirkman, NWA's corporate designee) (Mr. Shaw was trained in the proper use of restraints "in the new hire class[.] [P]roper restraining of a patient ... was also covered in field training as well with the field training officers.").

This was not the Legislature's intent. An "ambulance service" provides both patient care and transportation. Both components are essential. RCW 18.73.030(4) ("'Ambulance' means a ground or air vehicle designed and used to transport the ill and injured *and* to provide personnel, facilities, and equipment to treat patients before and during transportation." (emphasis added)). Ambulance teams are licensed to deliver both care and transportation and must have personnel trained to perform both tasks. RCW 18.73.130, .150.<sup>4</sup> As such, the ambulance driver is a "first responder" for the purposes of RCW 18.71.210. *See* RCW 18.73.030(15).

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