# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/23/2025 12:03 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

## SUPREME COURT NO. 1044984 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 862057

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL J. LANG, individually, and as Personal Representative of the ESTATE OF FRANK E. COSTA, on behalf of the Estate and all statutory beneficiaries,

## Respondent,

V.

PLATINUM NINE HOLDINGS, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Corporation, doing business as NORTHWEST AMBULANCE, a company, NORTHWEST AMBULANCE CRITICAL CARE TRANSPORT, a company,

#### Petitioner.

#### COSTA FAMILY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

# D. NWA Files a Motion for Revision of the Summary Judgment Order, Again Seeking Summary Judgment

NWA filed a "motion for revision," again asking for summary judgment on its immunity claim. *See* CP 657 ("the Court should grant [NWA's] motion for summary judgment..."); CP 668 ("the Court should grant [NWA] summary judgment"). NWA filed a declaration in support of the motion stating that transcripts were being filed to "support [NWA's] pending motion to revise ... the Court's summary-judgment rulings on qualified immunity." CP 680. The motion was not heard until after trial. *Compare* CP 1097 (noting oral

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> NWA claims that the undisputed facts in this case was "an ambulance crew that [did] its best to stabilize a patient who suffers from cancer while rushing to the hospital." Pet. for Rev. at 8-9. It is unclear how driving 53 miles an hour into a highway divider with an unrestrained patient has anything to do with "stabilizing" a patient.

arguments heard on February 22, 2024) with CP 1093 (jury verdict dated February 21, 2024).

# E. The Jury Returns a \$2,300,000 Verdict, Trial Court Denies Motion for Revision and Enters Judgment

The Trial Court used NWA's proposed verdict form. CP 1093. NWA did not request the jury apportion damages between its negligent driving and its negligent failure to use shoulder restraints. *See* CP 1089.

The jury ultimately found that the Costa Family suffered \$2,300,000 in noneconomic damages. CP 1093.

On February 22, 2024, the Court heard NWA's motion for revision regarding its immunity claim. CP 1097. The Trial Court decided to hear the motion to make sure the revision motion was decided before entering the judgment on the jury verdict. CP 1098. *Id.*<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The motion for revision was filed on February 6, 2024, one week before trial started on February 12. CP 652. The Trial

After hearing oral argument, the Trial Court denied NWA's motion for revision, incorporating by reference both its oral ruling from that day and the previous summary judgment ruling. *Id.* 

NWA's notice of appeal specified that it was appealing the Judgment "and all matters encompassed therein." In its Opening Brief at the Court of Appeals, NWA did not assign error to or present any argument regarding the Trial Court's ruling on NWA's motion for revision, seeking summary judgment on the immunity claim. *See generally* App. 28-29 (NWA's assignments of error from its Opening Brief).

The Court of Appeals affirmed the Trial Court. App. 3.

Court denied NWA's request to hear the revision motion on shortened time. CP 672. Because it was a motion seeking summary judgment, under CR 56(c) the earliest the motion could have been heard was March 5, or 28 calendar days after February 6, 2024. This means that the earliest the response would have been due was February 26, 11 calendar days prior to March 5, 2024. The Costa Family only presented oral argument in response to the motion for revision at the February 22 hearing. CP 1097.

#### V. REVIEW IS NOT WARRANTED

NWA fails to establish an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

First, the Court of Appeals adhered to basic principles of statutory interpretation in analyzing the statute and rejecting NWA's claimed immunity.

Second, NWA failed to preserve its claimed error by not appealing the trial court's post-trial revision ruling concluding NWA was not immune.

Third, NWA's issue presented rests on the idea that the statute and Court of Appeals distinguished between mental and physical injuries. No reasonable reading of the statute or opinion supports this proposition.

The petition for review should be denied.

F. The Court of Appeals Following Normal Rules of Statutory Interpretation is not an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

Statutory interpretation intends to discern and implement the legislature's intent. *Thurman v. Cowles Co.*, 4 Wn.3d 291,

296, 562 P.3d 777 (2025). In interpreting a statute, this Court looks to the statute's plain language. *Id.* To determine the legislature's intent, the Court examines the plain language of the language of the statutory provision in question and considers the meaning of that language in the context of the whole statute and related statutes. *Id.* This Court gives meaning to every word in a statute. *In re Recall of Pearsall-Stipek*, 141 Wn.2d 756, 767, 10 P.3d 1034 (2000).

The Court of Appeals followed these rules in interpreting RCW 18.71.210, consistent with the prior published decisions interpreting the statute. NWA simply does not like the outcome the plain language of the statute requires. A litigant's disagreement with the legislature's policy choices is not an issue of substantial public interest warranting review.

RCW 18.71.210(1)(f) provides that no act or omission of any EMT "while rendering emergency medical service" to a person who has suffered illness or bodily injury shall impose any liability upon any licensed ambulance service. "Emergency

medical service" is defined in RCW 18.73.030(11) as "medical treatment and care which may be rendered at the scene of any medical emergency or while transporting any patient in an ambulance to an appropriate medical facility, including ambulance transportation between facilities."

RCW 18.71.210(2) further provides "[t]his section shall apply to an act or omission committed or omitted in the performance of the actual emergency medical procedures and not in the commission or omission of an act which is not within the field of medical expertise of the [EMT]." NWA asks this Court to ignore this language limiting the reach of the immunity under RCW 18.71.210(1).

The plain language of (2) limits the reach of immunity of (1) to "the performance of the actual emergency medical procedures" and ensures that immunity does not apply to "acts not within the field of medical expertise" of the EMTs.

RCW 18.71.210(4) finally provides "[t]his section shall apply also as to [licensed ambulance services] to any act or

omission committed or omitted in good faith by such [licensed ambulance services] involved in the transport of patients to mental health facilities or chemical dependency programs ..."

The Court of Appeals read the plain language of these statutes together, and correctly rejected NWA's claimed immunity.

# 1. Ambulance Transportation Alone is not Subject to Immunity

NWA seeks to be immune for driving an ambulance 53 miles per hour into a highway divider. RCW 18.71.210(1) provides immunity for acts or omissions while rendering "emergency medical services to a person who has suffered illness or bodily injury."

"Emergency medical services" is defined at RCW 18.73.030(11) as "medical treatment and care which may be rendered at the scene of any medical emergency or while transporting any patient in an ambulance to an appropriate medical facility ..." (Emphasis added.) As the Court of Appeals

correctly found, the phrase "while transporting" modifies "medical treatment and care" and therefore means something different than the "medical treatment and care" that is subject to immunity. Ct. App. Op. at 12.

NWA asserts that "while" means "during the time that," but just because two activities can be done at the same time does not mean they are the same activity. Using NWA's example of "using a cellphone while driving is dangerous," the phrase does not mean any driving is dangerous. Instead, it means that a specific activity (using a cell phone) done at a certain time (while driving) is dangerous.

Similarly, RCW 18.71.210(1) does not immunize all transportation; instead, it immunizes medical treatment and care that can occur either at the scene of an emergency or while transporting the patient to an appropriate facility.

NWA's misreading of RCW 18.71.210(4) also fails. That statute immunizes qualified entities for acts and omissions "involved in the transport of patients to mental health facilities

or chemical dependency programs." Mental health facilities and chemical dependency programs are "appropriate medical facilities" under the definition of emergency medical service.

See RCW 18.73.030(11).

RCW 18.71.210(4) is meaningless if the phrase "rendering emergency medical services" in RCW 18.71.210(1) already includes transportation. There would have been no need to extend the immunity to the transport of patients to mental health facilities or chemical dependency facilities if transportation was already immune.

NWA's citation to statutes involving other aspects of emergency care, but these support the Court of Appeals' analysis. The legislature including ambulance transportation in the definitions of "trauma care system," "emergency medical services and trauma care system plan," "emergency medical services and trauma care system," and "EMS provider" does not alter the definition of "emergency medical services," a different phrase.

Instead, those definitions show the legislature knew it could have defined "emergency medical services" to include transportation. The legislature chose not to do so. RCW 18.71.210(1) provides immunity for acts and omissions arising out of "emergency medical services," not out of emergency medical systems and trauma care systems, plans, or providers.

NWA makes no mention of the other relevant statute involving emergency driving, RCW 46.61.035, which provides that the driver of an authorized emergency vehicle may violate traffic laws while acting in due regard for the safety of all persons. The Court of Appeals correctly noted that emergency driving expertise is not medical expertise, as it is shared with police officers and firefighters. App. 13. Under RCW 18.71.210(2), acts not within the field of medical expertise of the EMT are not immune; the Court of Appeals appropriately heeded the legislature's plain language in RCW 18.71.210(2).

Finally, NWA's resort to the legislative history of RCW 18.71.210(4) is irrelevant. NWA does not argue the statute is

ambiguous, a prerequisite for referencing legislative history.

NWA argued to the Court of Appeals that RCW 18.71.21 was unambiguous. *See* App. 81 (NWA arguing unambiguous statutes like RCW 18.71.21 must be interpreted as written).

NWA fails to establish the statute is ambiguous, which is a prerequisite for considering the legislative history.

Even if considered, the Bill Report states that the legislature wanted to extend immunity to transportation of a patient to a mental health facility or chemical dependency treatment program by enacting RCW 18.71.210(4). NWA offers no explanation as to why this bill needed to exist if all transportation was already immune under RCW 18.71.210(1) as NWA claims.

2. Failing to Use Restraints That Mr. Wilson (the EMT in the Back of the Ambulance With Mr. Costa) was not Trained to Use is not Subject to Immunity

NWA fails to show that the use or nonuse of shoulder straps was an "emergency medical service" in this case, because the failure to use the straps did not occur while "rendering

medical treatment or care." There is no evidence there was any medical need to use the shoulder straps as part of rendering medical care or treatment to Mr. Costa.

While NWA is correct that one of its EMTs said to "go code," that was because of a possible abnormal heart rhythm.

CP 154. There is no evidence in the record to connect the observation of the possible abnormal heart rhythm with the failure to use all the available restraints while transporting Mr.

Costa. Indeed, NWA failed to appeal the Trial Court's ruling that NWA was not providing health care at the time of the crash. CP 310-311. The non-use of the shoulder restraints had nothing to do with any medical treatment or care. Therefore, the failure to use the shoulder restraint did not constitute an omission while rendering emergency medical service subject to immunity.

NWA's claimed immunity fails under RCW 18.71.210(2) as well. RCW 18.71.210(2) provides that immunity does not apply in the commission of an act which is not within the field

of medical expertise of "the" EMT. The statute does not use the article "a" or "an" to modify EMT, but "the." This means it is the specific NWA EMTs' medical expertise that is at issue.

NWA's claims about how EMTs are trained generally is irrelevant.

NWA's EMTs both stated they had no recollection of being trained to put on shoulder straps or seat belts. CP 61, 230. This means that the field of medical expertise of NWA's EMTs did not include straps. In a footnote, NWA cites the CR 30(b)(6) designee's testimony that Mr. Shaw, the driver of the ambulance, was trained in the shoulder straps. This does not matter, because there is no testimony that the other EMT, Mr. Wilson, was trained to put on shoulder straps. The only evidence NWA cites is that Mr. Shaw was trained on loading stretchers in and out of ambulances. Pet. for Rev. at 19, n. 3 (citing CP 280). Even assuming that loading stretches in and out of ambulances includes using shoulder straps, this cannot overcome Mr. Wilson's unambiguous deposition testimony that he did not know he needed to use the shoulder restraints:

Throughout my time at [NWA] I had ridden with other EMTs, FTOs, and MSOs, and I had never – and I'd never seem them use those shoulder restraints but a couple of times with very kind of specific patients. And I'd never specifically been told by any of my co-workers or MSOs that I was riding with that I needed to use those patient restraints.

...

[Using shoulder straps] wasn't standard practice ... my whole career at NWA I believe I'd only ever used the shoulder belts twice and they were ... for patients that weren't able to control their upper body, so it was more kind of a restraint for the patient's upper body than it was a seat belt.

CP 185, 187. Because using the shoulder restraints was outside of the medical expertise of "the" EMT, the Court of Appeals properly concluded the immunity did not apply.

NWA points to the fact that gurneys and straps are ambulance equipment generally, but this does not matter under the immunity statute. RCW 18.71.210(2) states that the "section," i.e. all of RCW 18.71.210, does not apply to acts outside the field of medical expertise of the EMT. *See* Laws of 2015, ch. 157, § 5 (section modifying the entirety of RCW

18.71.210). It does not matter what equipment is in the ambulance for immunity; what matters is what is within the field of medical expertise of the individual EMT.<sup>3</sup>

The Court of Appeals did not reach an absurd result in applying the basic principles of statutory interpretation.

# G. Review is not Warranted; NWA is not Immune Under the Ruling NWA Failed to Appeal

Aside from the Court of Appeals' correct application of statutory interpretation principles, this is not a matter of substantial public interest for a separate reason. The law of the case is that NWA is not immune.

A conclusion of law that is not appealed becomes the law of the case. *See Detonics .45 Assocs. v. Bank of California*, 97 Wn.2d 351, 353, 644 P.2d 1170 (1982).

21

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Notably, the jury verdict form was submitted by NWA, and did not differentiate between negligent driving and the failure to use all available restraints. Thus, to be entitled to relief, NWA had to establish both were immune. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that NWA could not establish either was immune.

The Trial Court made multiple rulings on immunity, both on summary judgment and again on NWA's motion for revision. See CP 310-13 and CP 317-19 (summary judgment rulings); see also CP 1097-98 (motion for revision ruling). The Court of Appeals acknowledged that NWA lost its revision motion seeking immunity under RCW 18.71.210. App. 5, 7. The Court of Appeals framed its analysis of the immunity issue solely with regard to the summary judgment proceedings. App. 9 ("NWA asserts that the trial court erred in granting Lang's motion for summary judgment and denying NWA's motion for summary judgment ... we conclude that the trial court acted appropriately in granting [the Costa Family's] motion and denying NWA's motion").

NWA's appeal did not assign error to or present any argument regarding the revision ruling. This makes the revision ruling, that NWA is not immune under RCW 18.71.210, the law of the case.

Any discussion of whether the Court of Appeals erred in

affirming the Trial Court's summary judgment immunity rulings is unnecessary to resolve the case. The Trial Court's revision immunity ruling is the law of the case; no matter what happens to the summary judgment ruling on review, NWA is still not immune.

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